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1. Name

historic

and or common Berkeley Square Historic District

2. Location

street & number 30-84 Main Street: 2-29 Broadway — not tor publication
city, town Saranac Lake _ -— vicinity of
3. Classification
Categery Ownership Status Prosent Vee
X district ___ public X_ occupied — sgriculture —_ museum
___ bullding(s) ___ private X unoccupied X _ commerciel —_ perk
—— structure X_ both —— work in progress — educstionsl —_ private residence
— site Public Acquisition Accessibhle — entertainment —religious
___ object — in process ——— Yeos: restricted X__ government — sclentific
N being considered X yeos: unrestricted — industrisl ——— transportation
— Mo —— miltary — other:
4. Owner of Property
name Multiple ownership

street & number

city, town —_ vicinity of state

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Franklin County Courthouse

Main Street
street & number

Malone ' New York
city, town state

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

New York Statewide Inventory of
litle Historic Resources has this property been determined eligible? ___yes X no

November 1982 %
' —flederal ____ state ___county ___ local

Divisi H
Hory for survey records ivision for Historic Pre§ervation

city, town Albany state New York -




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

—__ excellent ___ deteriorated X unaitered _X original site

_* good ___ruins _* ahtered —__moved date _I_l/ &
X tair — unexposed

Describe the present and original (it knewn) physical appearance

The Berkeley Square Historic District is located in the
center of the incorporated village of Saranac Lake in the town of
Harrietstown, Franklin County, in the Adirondack Park region of
northern New York. The village is the largest settlement in the
six-million acre park and, until recently, served as a regional
shopping center. The district includes the core of the original
settlement on Main Street and at the "Y¥" intersection with
Broadway, between the LaPan Highway (Route 3) on the south and
the Saranac River on the north. The district is made up of the
1926-28 Harrietstown Town Hall and twenty-six commercial
buildings constructed between 1867 and 1932. The district
includes twenty-two contributing buildings and four non-
contributing buildings. Beyond the highway on the south lies the
Paul Smith's Electric Light and Power and Railroad Company
complex, recently listed on the National Register of Historic
Places, and parallel to Main Street to the east is the proposed
church Street Historic District.

The Berkeley Square Historic District was identified and
developed as the result of a comprehensive and community-wide
survey and inventory undertaken in 1982 by the local sponsor,
Historic Saranac Lake, Inc. Based upon this data, the sponsor
and the New York State Historic Preservation office have drawn

the boundaries of the district to include only those properties

which reflect the historic commercial character of the village
and which include the most intact area of the commercial section
of the village. Beyond the boundaries lie the Saranac River,
parking and vacant lots, and heavily altered historic buildings.
Oon the west side, behind the entire Main Street and Broadway
wall, lie parking lots stretching down to the river. In this
area, the boundary has been drawn at the rear walls of the
buildings, because of the large amount of vacant, non-
contributing land that would have been included if rear property
lines had been used. The rear boundary line continues to an
alley north of 20-22 Broadway on the west side of the street,
where the boundary crosses Broadway and turns north to the
Saranac River. The district boundaries return south following
the rear property lines of the Broadway buildings numbered 15
through 29. On the east side of Main Street, the district
boundaries follow the property lines. '

The urban quality of the district, unusual in the Adirondack
region, is determined by the intact streetscape of attached
and/or closely spaced buildings which contain a mix of
commercial, office and residential uses. The district is clearly
differentiated from its surroundings by other urban
characteristics of the streetscape, such as paved streets, .
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granite curbs, concrete sidewalks, and largely brick, metal and
glass facades. The commercial streetscape contrasts sharply with
the natural surroundings nearby and with the residential areas of
the village, which contain almost entirely wooden houses
surrounded by trees and lawns. While the streetscape on the west
side of Main Street and Broadway is intact, it is not static; the
business district evolved over time. While most of the buildings
are three-story with cornices, there are six two-story and four
one-story buildings included in the district which contribute to
a pleasing variety of height and style. Similarly, during the
late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, businesses needing
additional space added to their store fronts, bringing some
closer to the street than others, again breaking up what could
have been an over-bearing, monolithic appearance. Four alleys
intervene between buildings, providing access to parking at the
rear. The topography forms a dynamic base for this development,
from the rising crescent of Main Street to the swift fall and
reverse turn of the north part of the district, on Broadway.
Because of the change in grade from Main Street to the river,
buildings are typically one-story higher in the rear than on the
street side. Styles range from the group of three French Second
Empire style buildings that established the business use of the
street in the late 1860s and 70s, through large, late nineteenth
century blocks and early twentieth century buildings reflecting
the various revival styles of the period, to the climax of
architectural development which occurred with the erection of the
Harrietstown Town Hall in a style highly unusual in the
Adirondacks--Beaux-Arts Classicism.

The town hall is the visual terminus of the village's
historic center and forms its southern boundary; it is flat
roofed, with a parapet, a symmetrical facade and a domed,
cylindrical tower which doubles the height of the building,
dominating its roofline and the street as well. Construction is
steel frame, clad in red face brick laid up in Flemish Bond. The
ornamentation is of Indiana limestone. 1In plan the front, east,
section is two-story, with four election rooms, now used mainly
as offices and for meetings. The rear, west, section is a large,
single story auditorium with a stage and balcony. The east
facade exhibits a shallow, pedimented central pavilion made of
limestone, with a pair of two-story columns on each side with
smooth shafts and acanthus leaf capitals of no formal order.
Within the pediment is a carved limestone escutcheon with swags.
First floor windows in the office section and all those in the
auditorium are very large scale arched sash with multiple panes.
The central entry opening is also arched, with a fanlight with
leaded tracery over the paired doors. Entries set back on each
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side have modest pediments. Windows on the second floor are
rectangular, with flat brick arches, keyed--as all the windows in
the front section are--with limestone. The cornice on the office
section is detailed with dentils; toward the rear of the office
section, it is simplified and disappears altogether on the
auditorium. Above the cornice, a solid brick parapet is relieved
with sections of balustrade. Atop the four corners of a raised
center section of roof behind the pediment are freestanding
]imestone urns. The base of the tower is square in plan and
detailed with quoins and a round window on each side. The tower
has a decorative border of limestone swags at the base, a bell
tower detailed with pilasters and tall, arched, keyed openings
topped by a simple cornice, a drum with a four-faced clock and a
dome surmounted by an iron weathervane with two deer and a
central spruce tree. Wrought iron is also used on the facade in
stair railings, balconets on the first floor windows, four
lanterns, a railing within the clock tower and bracketing clock
faces. The interior is notable for a commodious foyer from which
the main double staircase (under a now-covered skylight) leads to
the main auditorium floor. This staircase is constructed of
imported marble, including Yellow Verona treads and Black Belgian
risers, with ornamental wrought-iron railings. Ramps lead to the
balcony promenade and to arched openings supported on black and
gold marble columns which form a screen between the staircase
well and the balcony promenade. The floors in the entrance
vestibule, foyer and promenades are all marble terrazzo. The
town hall has many fineé details, both interior and exterior and
appears little changed from the time it was built. The interior
public spaces, as well as the exterior, are architecturally
significant. A narrow alley separates the town hall from the
commercial buildings of Main Street, setting this civic building
apart from the commercial streetscape.

Proceeding north on Main Street and Broadway along the west
side of the street, the first section after the town hall--from
30 Main Street to 52 Main Street--is the most intensively
developed and redeveloped section of the district. The
vernacular style Walton and Tousley Hardware Store (34 Main
Street) is a heavily altered historic commercial building which,
due to lost architectural integrity, is classified as non-
contributing. The terra-cotta faced Tousley Storage Building
(38-40 Main Street) built in 1924, represents the final period of
development of the district. It is the first of only two
puildings in the village that used terra cotta as a facing
material. The Milo Miller Store is the oldest extant building in
the district (1867). Though its facade has been altered by
successive owners, the building's French Second Empire style
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mansard roof and obscured north and south elevations retain
sufficient integrity to identify its style. The one-story Book
Store (46 Main Street) is a deceptively small and modest single
storefront in an Art Deco style little changed from 1925 when it
was built. Designed by architect William G. Distin, Sr., the
only facade in the district to represent his work, it is a very
deep masonry building with metal casement windows overlooking the
river to the rear. The building at 48-50 Main Street was the
third building built by Milo Miller during the early development
of the district. The largest and most ornately decorated of
Miller's buildings, it features an elaborate bracketed cornice
which supports the building's mansard roof. A contributing,
shallow brick facade was added to the building in the early
twentieth century, unifying this early building with the newer
structures which surround it. The Post Office Pharmacy (non-
contributing) at 52 Main Street is Miller's second building in
the district. It marks the end of the original little downtown
district. The facade of this building was extended and altered
in 1921 and further altered in the mid-twentieth century, so that
it no longer contributes to the district's significance.

From 56 Main Street through 78 Main Street (the Donaldson
Block to the Roberts Block), a sequence of six buildings
epitomizes the boom of the early years of this century in Saranac
Lake, including four of those buildings built with galleries and
balconies for tuberculosis patients on their street fronts. The
Donaldson Block, built in 1901, exhibits recognizable Colonial
Revival elements in its broken pediment style cornice. Built by
Alfred L. Donaldson, author of A History of the Adirondacks, a
patient and banker as well, the building housed the family of
William L. Distin, early area photographer, including his son
William G. Distin, who became an area architect. The Haase Block
at 60 Main Street is an exuberant Italian Renaissance Revival
inspired commercial building designed by the firm of Scopes and
Feustmann, who manipulated the style to the fresh air
requirements of tuberculosis patients. The Haase Block exhibits
a symmetrical facade with different window treatments on each
story, in this case enlarging the typical recessed porch over the
entrance and adding another on the third floor which utilized a
round arch. Scopes and Feustmann's architectural offices
relocated to the Haase Block as soon as it was completed and
remained there as long as the firm was in business. The
Telephone Exchange (68 Main Street) is a monumental single
storefront commercial building attributed to Max Westhoff, who is
known to have owned it. The intricate, original cornice work was
removed in the mid-twentieth century and has been replaced with
one of a smaller scale. The Adirondack National Bank at 70 Main

)
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Street (non-contributing) was built in 1906. The building was
constructed with an ornate, commercial, Neo-Classical facade
which was covered by a blank brick facade wall in 1962 as a part
of a renovation program. The Fowler Block (76 Main Street) was
designed by William Scopes in his early years. It is a Classical
Revival inspired building with recessed galleries across the
second and third floor front. In 1926, William Distin designed a
non-descriptive rear extension for this building which was
utilized as a newspaper print room.

The Roberts block (78-80 Main Street) features a stone facade
of rock cut limestone and a pair of recessed balconies located in
the center bay of the building's facade in the second and third
stories. These balconies are characteristic of the adaptation of
local architecture to incorporate elements of the tuberculosis
cure industry, which had sparked the village's commercial
prosperity. Although there is no record of an architect for this
building, it is believed to have been the work of William Scopes.
Its design and plan resemble many of the buildings in Saranac
Lake that have been attributed to Scopes. The integrity of this
building (78 Main Street) extends to the storefront and the
interior of the shop.

The last eight buildings on the west side of the street, 82
Main Street to 20-22 Broadway (the Kendall Building through
Scheefer's Jewelers), are again a mix of eras from the late
nineteenth century, the exuberantly confident turn of the
century, and the period of infill from 1920-32. Originally a
vernacular block of the 1890s, the Kendall Building at 82 Main
Street has a modest and simple facade redone with a mineral
composition sheathing in 1960. The Mulflur Shoe building at 84
Main was squeezed into a tiny and restricted site by the
architect Paul Jacquet in 1921. The Jack Block at 2 Broadway
exhibits a monumentality similar to the Telephone Exchange,
especially for its small size. Across an alley once known as
Fowler's Lane (it led to Fowler's Livery), the McIntyre and Ayer
Blocks stand, both vernacular buildings of the 1890 period. The
McIntyre Block has an added cure porch on the second story front,
of the type seen on so many houses in Saranac Lake which rented
rooms to patients, but rarely on a downtown building. Altman's
at 16 Broadway is the last of the buildings built in the
district. Once an Art Deco bandbox with four diminutive
storefronts, each with an entry door, it has been so altered as
to have lost its integrity and is judged as non-contributing.
The Egler Block is again one of those small but monumental
storefronts (this one at 18 Broadway) that adorned the street
around the turn of the century. Scheefer's Jewelers (20-22
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Broadway) is a vernacular block of the 1890s. As such it echoes
the section across the street on Broadway. The eastern side of
the district, which is located on the eastern side of Main Street
and Broadway, is composed of six commercial buildings. One of
the largest buildings in the district is the pDukett Building or
Loomis Block (15-17-19 Broadway). This building features four
street level storefronts surmounted by a balcony that extends the
length of the facade and the entire northern elevation.
originally constructed with three stories, the third story was
removed after an extensive fire damaged this floor in the early
twentieth century. The street level and second story have
remained completely intact.

The Coulter block (71-79 Main Street), named for its
architect, William L. Coulter, is the only building in this
portion of the district to be designed by an architect. The
building is composed of two separate three-story brick buildings
joined at the second story level. The northern portion of this
building features dual brick piers which extend from the second
story to the cornice. These piers frame a set of recessed
windows on each of the upper stories. The southern portion of
this block is less decorative with a Palladian style window
occupying the center bay of the third story.

North of the Coulter block are two large three-story brick
buildings with multiple storefronts, the Leonard Block (83 Main
Street) and the Harding Block (89 Main Street). Both buildings
were constructed at the close of the nineteenth century. Both
buildings, as were most of the buildings in the district, were
built to house retail operations and rental apartments. These
two blocks are very simple in design and exhibit few deocrative
elements. The Ledger Block (25 Broadway) and the Stark Building
(29 Broadway) are also three-story masonry buildings which
exhibit little design or decorative elements. As in many
buildings, the street level of these two buildings housed retail
space, while the upper stories were rented by tuberculosis
patients during their stay at Saranac Lake.

The enclave of late nineteenth and early twentieth century
commercial buildings which characterizes the Berkeley Square
Historic District has retained a remarkable degree of integrity
of design and materials. Although these buildings have changed
owners numerous times, the original uses of these structures and
their design elements have remained remarkably consistent.
Changes which have occurred have been limited and carefully
executed in the majority of the district components. Berkeley
Square Historic District, with its outstanding civic

]
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architectural anchor and corridor of well preserved copmercial )
buildings, remains as a distinctive urban streetscape isolated in
the Adirondack wilderness park.




€T-TLEL "2

spese] JOTI4

-I9TTIW OTTW AQ 3TTNE
ax1dwd puoOdsS youaxg ‘oweljy poon 1 L2038 ®SAYL

-y WETTTTM AQ UDTSSP ‘quoij #1038 d[huys oded
331V XO7Iq pue dwely T2938 1pagoox 3er3 ‘Axo3s-_suo

‘pex®3Te uINq SAvY SIPEWOR] 0013 pucdes
pue 3SITJ IYL °I2TIISTP 83 uy buypyyng JIUEIXI
31SapI0 ‘13X e UOFITPPY XY001q 930X0UW0D ® YITA
*ISTTTW OTTW Aq 3TTng butpTTng TeToIaumed o7h3s

saydug puodIs You’axd ‘guexy poom ‘Azo3s YL

«K3yoedeo spunod GzyL 3O x030ART® JgBTOXJ

e sosnoy 3T ‘3IOFIISTP ¥3Y3 ut sHuTpIING [TFOIOWNOD
1sobIe oM} FO BUQ "PUODSS IYF U0 snopujn o1i3s
obeotTyd IeTnbuelddx pue I00T3 38I¥Z 943 uWOo seyoae
xopnl Aq payaww aiw Aeq z1ey v pue sieq [N ®0IUL
-apeoce3 WIF00 VIIIY YITA ehexed Buyyred 8(hs YOI
QUMOD XOIIq puw ewely T933s ‘pajoox IV ‘A0S oAl

- HUTINQFIJUCO-UON “92ITJ 0961 I93Je pelslle SPpwRIT]
pue pPIACWII UOTIOIS JuUOIF 3O K£1038 PITYL
uotT3Tppe Xo0Taq Axo3s-8axy3 YITM 32038 SIevApI®Y VIO
.I9umIodD YOT1q ‘pajoox eI ‘L1038 -99XYy © Kxteuyrhbtixo

0867 UT YOOTO 3 IWMOP *Xxuoswm ‘JooOx
jo uotje3lTITqeyax yerjuelsqng *9Z6T U pouIng WOTU M
T1eH umol snotaaxd jo IS IUI uo §zZ6Y UY peeTdwo)
mryaio3Tpne abrey pue SWOOI buyroam ‘SIDTFJO FUIWIUOD
rewysnag pue sodoos Aq peubysap IM03 XOO0Td puw 1194
joutwoad y3zTM buipiIng orrand aTA3s sIIY-XNEQ ouols

-2WTI] pu® XOoTIq ‘Iwexy o938 ‘pajoo1 ey ‘A303s-OML

- BUTPTING TETOI3UICO aTAas 19601 ¥ 6LST

woemynq  L'9'¥P’'T 8,90f 973371
05-8¥ 9
‘1g ‘utIsIaA ]
$Z61 9'y 23035 oog ¥yl
9 *S
_ 9103S XITTTR OTTW
L981 9’y 4 -2V ‘v
BuyplIng
1243t 9'S abwio3g Keysnol
‘v'7'T 0v-8¢€ €
6T O
WOTIVISJT®
*Ie0X Uy {gTI6Y °° axempieH Aa1snol
uoyIYPPe _ _ pue uolTeM
te06T "2 s'e’Z’T e K4
(X3TIV)
TTI®H umol
_ UMOIS13TIICH
8Z61 v'e‘?'t . o€ 1
90IS 1SaM ‘1S NIVW
UOoTIONIISUOD * SON *ON
uotaldraosaq 3O 93eg ojoyd s$$21pPPV wall

g obed ‘, we3lI

1

Nx0ox MaN ‘A3unod uriurid

tg)er] oeuelxeg ‘30TI3STIA DT1I03STH axenbg Aaraiag

{




- 20TUI0D FudwadeTdax pareds Ai3isepou YITA TEET Ut
j0T3e3TTTqReyax TeijuelIsqns {y96T °"O PIAOWSI BOFUIOD
(eutbtao °s3ejzxenbpeay Auwdwodo suoydeately se ITING
){1SOM XERW 03 pa3InqiXile ‘HuTpTINg [RJOIEECD JWOXJ

1n3§ oTPuUTS TeIuSWnUOM ‘YOTIQ pue swe1j Tee3s ‘sacqE
sweeq woxj papuadsns JOOX 3eTF ¥ UITA ‘31038 ®9IYL

98-G86T UT UOTIRITTIQRUSI TejIue’Isqng
*peSOTOuUd IDUTS ‘IVAI IY3 uo seyoxod uspoon puw
U013y SIO0OTJ PITYI pue puodes IY3 uo s3juejjed o esn
ayy 103 serIarreb uedp °SI0O0TJ PATYI pUT PUCSSS Y)Y
uo sjuayied SYSOTNOIIGN] O3 [EIUSI pue IGOY A8IYJ
oYy UO @SN TETOISWMOD IOF ‘uUuTEINIJ Ppuw Aq
paubtsap ‘burpring TETOISUWMIOD TeATAN IDUESSYPUSY
eI7e3ll YO1Iq 3 awely 18938 ‘pajoos- 3ey3 ‘Azoyswexyg

-9 UT UOTITpPe
aueIj poom AIO3S JTeY € pue OM] ‘uospiewog °71 POAJIV
AqQ 3TING °®Aoqe sjuswiiede ‘I00T] 3ISIYI we doys
3qieq (Tews puw doys uyeMW cq9dezed v su [eJUY] puw
juswtped uaxoxq Fusutwoxd Y3IFA 3001q 1T TOISWNOD
1eATADY TRTUOTOD XOTIq ‘Ppajoox 3IeT3 11038 901YyL

“BuT3anqTIIUCO-UON
-ubts sserbh wiexxed °[ZE1 punoiw poppe speowd

-I5TTTIH OTTH Aq 3TTnq ‘BuipiTng TeTOISWm0D sTi3s
siesuew axtdug puodads Yyouaixd ‘3uwexj poom ‘A1038-9UQ

6 abed ‘1 we3ll yI0Xx MAN ‘Auno) urTURId

Z86T UoTI
- IrIqEYax
t1p96T °°
SUOTIVIIIT®
16061 8’'L ebueyoxy auoydaray
89 01
98-S061 i
uoyIWIyITqeYSI o
1L06T L't ¥ooTd 9SewH
. 09 °6
{307 Buyxred Iwdx O3
umop AemIye3s uUSPoOOM
G86T 2 YITA ‘XTTIV)
90€6Y Uy
pesoious
seTwWOOTeq _
17061 L'9'1 jyoo1d uospyeuod
9S "8
TT6T "2
speow] Kowwixeyd
t6L8Y _ 201330 3sod
91039q L'9'Y 43 L
J4dIS LSIM ‘LS NIVKW

‘1 @)yer] oeuries .uoﬂuumﬂd DTXO3STH axenbg Katayaed

{




+1007J puUOD®S 9Y3 UO IDUSPTSdX € YITA buypIIng
1eToI2uMmOD YOoTaq ‘padeys 1 ‘pejoox ey ‘Ax03s omy

- +p9sSeaIouy useq swy oYquh

33 30 Yo3Td ‘-oeaAoqe sjuswujiede Y3TA 91038 sOWS ¢ S¢
3TI0g juoajaxols aybuys °3Ienboer ned Kkq peubisep
‘gain3eag @3vueyTeEII Y3ITM BUIpIIng TeIOISWMOD

¥o0Tq PaxX puw XYOTaq ‘pejoox ayqeb ‘Axo3s eseayy

umybreg woxzy pojzrodut ,TeYIOIVH uoy3ysodmod
Texautw jo steuwed YI¥A 096T U¥ peoeTdex sea epwOwg
{o1Iq puorq ayl “Aowwaeyd s, (Tepudx. ATTeurbyxo ‘buy
-pTING [EIOIIWMOD JWeIXI PpoOM ‘pajoox—ell ‘Axols-oAl

‘SPUTYSTUING PUR SSINIXFJ POOA
AIx9Yd €Z6T SUTEISI JUOCXJ BI038 I00]J punoxs sybuys
303Ul ¥YL

—uewoy YOTIq Pedej suo3ls ‘pejoox W[y ‘Axols eeayy

*ag ‘uyInia

‘5 weTTTTM Aq 9Z6T uy woox 3uyxad Jodwdensu 103
paub1Sap UOTBUIIN® XWX YOTIq pue swex] (o938 ‘Axoys
_om] ‘aAoqe sjuswiiede YITA TIAS] JII0II8 ¥ SIN0XJ
_ 31038 oml °sadoos °H WeITTIN Aq poubysap ‘poon

ut paiTeIsp ArTARsy JUOXF IOOTF PATYI PUT pucdOes
ssoIoe SaTIITTeD pPOssSIVIX Y3ITM BUTPTITNG TPTOXOWWOD
oTA3S TeaTnasy TeoTssero XOTIq ‘pajoox 3ery ‘Az03s e8Iyl

'BUTINGTIIUCO-UON  *zggT UT TT®A AOTIq
sue1q Aq peoeydax IO pIIIA0D Kie3erdwoD “HuiplIng
yueq TeTOIAWOD YOTIq ‘pajoox 3elj ‘X103 ®uO

o1 @be ‘r wa3l ¥T0X MaN ‘A3uno) utryue”

-9pedwj I0OTJ PATYI PU® PpuUCIes O4) WY
S9TUODTEq PISSBIII OAY YITA YO0Tq [RIIIGMNSO enbse

-

(ouw] 8,I13TMOd ‘ATTedTIOISTY ‘XITIV)

0Y6T

1261

0961
spude]
11681

0061

L 24 3¢
UuoIITPPT
10061

14138
pex®3 v
K1tAwey
1L0-9061

fay)e] oeurwles

_ ¥ooTd: Xoer
0T | z 91

J4AdIS LSEM ‘AWMaVOdd

_ sooys INTITNNW
€101 1 4] "6 1

purpiTng TTEPUIN
ot Z8 ‘¥I

putpring webruurd
{o01d $3IxIqOoY
otT‘e’L TR A ¢

buypiIng
astxdxsjud P10
{o01d X9TMOL

€‘s‘L 9L ‘Z1
yueq
_ {euOT3EN XOepuoOIIPY
8‘L oL ‘11

4dIs LSdM ‘1S NIVH

30TI3STQ OTIO}ISTH wumswm "aTexxod




“3uoOxJ 21035 UO mmMHm eIrexae)

PITY3 PUR PUODIS BY} SSOIONV PPURISA IPYIGP—-SIYNOP
v pey 8oUQ °IeadX puw SIPFs uo reydse ‘spwow; uo
putprs pivoqdeyd meu ‘2d7urod Teuyhiz0 -SuwyprIng

CTeTOXIUMOD JWRIJ POOM ‘PRJOOX v ‘Axe3s sexyy

‘sse(h vxeiawo sy whye exolzg

ITeJ syl °IOOTJ PuUOOSS Yl wo suyj Arxernorrxed
‘moputm KAeTdsTp JO SOTIO}S OA] PuUR BPUIR] YOI YITA
TPTING [efOIsWM0D JWRIJ POOM ‘pPOJoox IvY). ‘A30ys-ong

* SuT IRy IyNEn -uoy

'SICOP OM] ATUO SEY MOU DUF peTIpouBI Weeq COjAR suy
JIOTI33IX® YL °IJusweseq YY) Ul WOOX uﬁduamil e pue
JUOIJ ®X038 molIeu In0j pey A1rwuyhyie 3vy ‘eseg 3xy
aouo ‘HuIpiTng TETOISWMOD ‘pPIFOOX 3Ivy) ‘Ameas eup

*peppe UIDQ SEY SPEDVJ ODOONIS ¥ °“IG0YF PIATYI
9yl Bbytyojzwm smopuiA Aq peowrdex uesq SUY ABPUIA
moys Ax03s puodoes ® ybHnoyil ‘SOYuUIcO SIT BUIEINX
yoTum BUTPTTNG TRTOIaWMNOO ‘Pajoox-3ul) ‘A2038 sexyl

‘Suipye Iyendsy

UMOIUMOD UI3S ISTAINYIO 8TA3s LieyTeh [eYOIGMMEOO O3}
ueyy xeyizex ‘ayikis oy3sswop syl uy S} Jeexsg Lzo3e
puooes syl wo yozed Huydee(s ¥ . ‘SUNAIES WeX]

-35eD puv SeYSTUYj} SUyY[yed puw [T Teuyhyae yIja
‘potaad 3wyl WOXJ SYI00q puw SISJUNOCD ‘SPET eeu}e
I00T3 3ISITI IYI UO JUNINVISSI ¢ Se posn ’‘BUYPIING
1eTOI2UMIOD PWRIJ POOM ‘pPajoox—j3erl ‘Axojys-eeayy

11 mmnm ‘L we3x

. 0’\ -||~ . ! s .

YI0X MeN ‘AJuno) urTuerd

L [}
9 LE81
USOAINq

TI6Y °°

- EEeY

T68Y
sx0j0q

0681

»TZT I

yTZTTT

-

(XAETIV)

SIJTSMIL IIFJBBYOS
4 And 14

91038 ITeJ IO
Xoo1e x91b3
8T

s, uven TV
91

o014 I94y
(12

Xo01g @2IAJUIONW
9-

AVMaVOud

12

"0z

“61

‘81

A

‘@YWl owvuwIvS ‘JIOTIAISTA OTIOISTH ouusvw_nwawxuom




+392135 JINIPOOM puw Kempro1ag uo sepede] 8yl Suoyve
1993 GEI SUNX RPURIIA Kx03s puooes OYlL °'S0761 =43
113 © 193¢ pdAcwdl SEA 0073 PITYR ¥ ‘daoque Jusn
_3aede pue I00TF 3IsITF U3 uo sassaUYSnNy INOF YITA
‘HUTPTING TeTOIIUMIOD ¥otxq ‘pejoox ae(y ¢t L1038 -OAL

* HUTOPpOwsI
JUOIJ9I0}S RO 3IDRIUT AYI peubysep uusElISNeJ

pue sadoos ‘gIET UL °“ISEDITEIS ¥ 93 CPONINSDOw

189M 9Yy3 O3 UOTITPPE IPTM-300)-XIs ¥ ‘9061 vi

57103S PITY3} PpuUR PUODPS JIedI IITIUL Sutuueds seysaod
auUT3I puw ‘MOpuUIM TI3TI0 ! YIOMNRDTIQ POTTEINP WITA
pUTPTING TETOIWNMMOD YOTIq ‘pezoox -3elj * L2078 - 902¥L

- 1eax 10073 PATYI Pu® PUOIIS WO BEYIIOJ
-3U0133I038 PIACIdW] PUT SHOPUTA Aetdsyp 30013
yUuOD9S HUTPNTOUT SITIOIS OMY aaddn poxolsex ¢9-2061
uT UOTILITITqEYEX TRIIULISANG ' eg3xed oMl UY ITINQ
31038 juawlawdap YOFXq ‘PpIajoox e[} ' k3038~ 901yl

-butp{TNq Sy3 IO 1891 A3
Lo Uues o UED Sayotog PUTPTING I93TncD SU3 UT po3edol
o1amM JJoyasem Pue I831nOQ 3O s80T3J0O auy3 ‘L06l Arenaged ul

spuytreued poom puwe UOTIRIISIUS] YITA POTIvISP B}
BUTPTING YINOS Y3 STTUM {YITIQ puolq WIjA owy
a1e Yy3od °Ifun v se pJos puw Iybnoq ueeq SAVATER

oAaevy A2yl ‘I0O0TF 3ISATF Y3 daoqe PONUT] Ayyeuaejux
-2123TNOD T WReFTTIM 3ID09ITYIIR KAq pesumo pue ubysep
{yo0Td I923TNOD Y3 Se I9y3abol umouy ‘s wpiIng

IR TOISUMIOD XOTIq pPajoox e[} 1£31038 98Iy} OAL

A d ‘¢ wa3lIx yI0Xx MeN ‘Aunod uTrTIUPTq

(1334LS JINUAOOM)

)o0o1d
8061 II futumoq 10 STwWOOT]
166-968T ¥YT'ET’ZI 6T-L1-ST "sT
AAIS LSVI ’X¥Mavodd
JWOXJ
03038 $161
{ecTyYPPT
PN "33 9 _ xoo1e BbuypIeH
P06 (5681 T (1] ¥z
91035 Iuawyawdad
061 * _ s ,paeuoca]
66—-L681 9T’‘ST SR i X
1061 _ 0014 I9ITNOD
-66871 ST 6L-TL "zt
40IS LSVd ‘LS NIVW

‘aye] oeueIes ‘3DTIISTA OSTIOISTH axenbs Aataxxad
(




*Gl6] .ﬁ@k&uﬁm UCOHMUHOUW h.H“\/HMm U.gﬂu‘a “U uo xc‘n mhﬁ.ﬂ
Yanos ay3z uo 3IOTIISTP 3Y3 u¥ asobxeT om3 JOo suo suoyjeINITe

9IeMpaIRH §,8)Ie]S
HUTPIING TETOIJUMOD YDFIQ PaFOOX IWYF ‘Ax038-991YL

18681 yT'eT 62 X
*3urpys 3TeYdsy
*anoqe sjuldmliede JY3Te pue Aempeoxg uo 83U01J9I038 £06T
omM3 Y3TM ‘TTEM UOUWMOD [eI3uad e v pautol sburtprIng 16687 ® G681 yoo1g xabpoal
[eTOIBWWOD HueIj poom ‘pajoox-3er3 ‘Aiols 99IYyl OML usamlyaq PT’ET (¥4 ‘9

JdIS LSV ’AwMavoyd
€1 abed Yy we3ll NI0x M@N ‘A3unop utriiuRad f9)e] oeueaes ‘3O0TAIISTA OTIOJISTH aaxenbg Aaraxaoyu
; {

{ {




8. S»i!nmc.neo

Peried Areas of Significance—Check and justity belew

___ prehistoric _ _.. archeology-prehistoric . _ community planning _ . fandscape architecture ___. refigion

—— 1400-1499 __ archeology-historic . ._ conservation _ law - science

__1500-1599 __ _ sgriculture - - sconomics —— .. liverature . . — seulpture

—__1800-1000 _X_ asrghitecture — . odusation ... Wilitary —__ seslel/

— 17001790 ___ont _ . engineering __ - music humeniterien

_X_1800-1890 __ commerce ___ explorstien/settioment ___ _ philesophy ___ tester

_X_1908- 1932 ___ communications .. Industry —__ pofitice’government  ___ transportation
<. lvention _X_ ofhwr (specity)

' Hea.lth/Medlcine
Speeific dates 1867 - 1932 Bullder/Arehiteet -;arious

Shw of Significance (in ene paragraph)

SEE CONTINUATION SHEETS




NPS Form 198000 UMD A OV A A 8
(2]

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

w Mmr °' HM P‘m Berkeley Square Historic District
Centinuation Sheet Saranac Lake, Franklin Co., NY

Sestion number __ 8 Page 1

The Berkeley Square Historic District is an outstanding, largely
intact example of a late nineteenth century commercial
streetscape in the north country region that clearly illustrates
the development of Saranac Lake into a premier health resort of
the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. The group of
mixed-used commercial properties and the one public building that
make up the Berkeley Square Historic District constitute the
heart of the original residential and business section of SaranacC
Lake, the largest village in the six-million acre Adirondack

 park. First settled in 1819, Saranac Lake remained a remote camp
of guides and lumbermen until the arrival of Dr. Edward
Livingston Trudeau in 1876 sparked its development as a
sanitarium village organized almost entirely for the care of
tuberculosis sufferers. The commercial center prospered and
developed in the last quarter of the nineteenth century as a
direct result of the emergence of Saranac Lake as a leader in the
health care industry under the leadership of Trudeau. The period
of significance of the Berkeley Square Historic District extends
from 1867, when the first commercial building was erected in the
district, to 1932 when the last of these buildings was
constructed. The architecture of the district is characterized
by three-story commercial buildings featuring retail space on the
street level and rental apartments occ ying the upper stories.
The predominantly brick and stone buildings, which are closely
spaced, embody vernacular adaptations of nationally popular

- architectural styles ranging from a Second Empire style store (c.
1867) to nine refined commercial buildings (built from 1900 to
1912) which reflect elements of the Classical and Colonial
Revival styles. Several of these early twentieth century
buildings were designed by the regionally prominent architectural
firms of Scopes and Feustmann, William L. Coulter and William
Distin,Sr. The construction of the Harrietstown Town Hall in
1928, with its Beaux-Arts inspired design, marked the peak of
sophisticated architectural development in the Berkeley Square
Historic District The commercial district continued to prosper
throughout the early twentieth century, with the last
architecturally distinctive commercial buildings constructed in
1932. The district is significant for its intensive
sophisticated architectural development in this isolated
community and is especially noteworthy for the adaptation of its
commercial architecture to incorporate verandas and cure porches,
features which had been introduced into regional architecture
specifically for therapeutic reasons by Trudeau at his
gsanitarium. Cure porches became ubiquitous throughout Saranac
Lake during its heyday as a treatment center, primarily in the
residential areas. The introduction of these elements into the
design of many of the stylish commercial buildings located in the
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Berkeley Square Historic District reflects the total involvement
of the community in the single industry of tuberculosis
treatment.

The first settlers in the area were the family of Jacob Smith
Moody, who arrived in 1819. Captain Pliny and family arrived in
1822 and by 1827 had built a dam to provide waterpower for a
sawmill on the Saranac River, creating what is now Lake Flower.
During the 1840s, Miller built the first hotel, just across the

_river from his sawmill. The third of the trio usually cited as

founding families, that of Colonel Milote Baker, had established
another hotel, a store and the first post office at the present
intersection of Main and Pine Streets by 1854, where Baker served
as the postmaster. By 1856, fifteen scattered families lived in
the area that would become Saranac Lake, among them thirty-one
students in two schools.

In 1865 Captain Miller's grandson, Milo Bushnell Miller, age 21,
returned from action in the Civil War and established a trading
post on Main Street. When the building burned in 1867, Miller
built a fashionable French Second Empire building, still standing
at 44 Main Street in the historic district, thus permanently
establishing this section of Main Street as the retail business
district for the village. Miller interpreted the style in
locally available materials: wood shingles in place of slate,
clapboard with corner boards in place of brick with quoins.
Although the facade of this building has been somewhat altered by
successive owners, the building retains substantial integrity of
design and materials beneath this alteration.

The arrival of Dr. Edward Livingston Trudeau in 1876 with a case
of tuberculosis marked the turning point in Saranac Lake's
development. He had first lodged at Paul Smith's hotel, about
ten miles north, a place he had loved when he came for hunting.
Tuberculosis at that time was killing one person out of every
seven, and a diagnosis of tuberculosis was virtually a death
sentence. Trudeau's health improved in the mountain air, but he
found himself unable to return to the city without a relapse. In
1876 he determined to find a place where he and his family could
spend the winters:

We tried Bloomingdale, but no suitable house
was to be had there, so we drove on to Saranac
Lake... .At that time Saranac Lake village
consisted of a saw-mill, a small hotel for
guides and lumbermen, a school-house, and
perhaps a dozen guides' houses scattered about

1
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over an area of an eighth of a mile. There
was one little store kept by Milo B. Miller
where flour, sugar, a few groceries, tobacco
and patent medicines were sold and where the
clerk was the telegraph operator. The two
best houses were owned by "Lute" Evans, an

old guide, where Mr. Edgar, Dr. Loomis's
patient, boarded, and opposite was a fairly
comfortable little clapboard house owned by
Reuben Reynolds, also a guide. This was about
the only house in the place at that time large
enough to take in my little family, and I
managed to hire it for twenty-five

dollars a month, unfurnished, for the winter.

What Dr. Trudeau described in his Autgbiography as "Saranac Lake
village" was most probably only the cluster of buildings that lay
in Harrietstown, on Main Street in the Berkeley Square district.
The houses referred to were replaced by commercial buildings in
the early years of this century.

By 1876 Milo Miller had built a hotel called the Berkeley House,
also in the Second Empire style. From then until the fire which
destroyed it in 1981, the Berkeley was the center of Saranac
Lake, and the "“Y" intersection of Main Street and Broadway which
it dominated has been known as Berkeley Square.

Gradually, as Trudeau felt better, he began to practice medicine.
Dr. Alfred Loomis, whom Trudeau had met at Paul smith's, began to
send him a few selected patients. The relatively few health
seekers who arrived in these years were housed just as those who
came for the sporting recreation were---in hotels, guides'
cottages and boarding houses. As more patients took up
residence, commercial activity increased on Main Street. 1In
addition to the store at 44 Main and the Berkeley House, Miller
built at least two other Second Empire style buildings, the first
a single-story market at 52 Main Street built sometime prior to
1879, now the Post Office Pharmacy. In 1881 the building was
used to house *“e Franklin County Library. In the late
nineteenth cen.ury, the library was displaced by the community's
first pharmacy and post office. Although this building retains
it's historic -association with the district, its architectural
integrity has been compromised by the complete alteration of its
facade and interior space. Sometime in the period between 1879
and 1890, the third and largest of Miller's Second Empire style
buildings still standing in the historic district went up--a
three-story, wood-frame clapboard building at 48-50 Main Street.

)
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At a later date, a shallow brick front with two storefronts was
added, no doubt to conform with the later and more imposing
masonry buildings on the street. Although much of the original
structure retains substantial integrity of materials and design,
the building derives its primary significance from the early
twentieth century facade which completely changed its appearance.

In 1883 Dr. Trudeau built a sanitarium at Saranac Lake for
patients of moderate means. Trudeau's unique situation is what
made Saranac Lake the leading health resort that it became. He
was a doctor, with sufficient training to follow new scientific
developments; he was a sick man, motivated by his wish for health
for himself and all others. His idea of a sanitarium was
motivated by a charitable impluse, to help the less fortunate.
His model was Dr. Hermann Brehmer's fresh air sanitarium in
Goerbersdorf, Germany, the first successful institution of its
kind in the world. In transplanting this idea to the United
States, Trudeau first applied hard science to what had been
essentially the folk medicine of climatic treatment by advocating
a rest cure in the fresh air--the "Outdoor Life." His
contribution was not one of discovery, but of synthesis--putting
the ideas of others to the test of application. Remarkably, he
did this twice: first in applying Brehmer's sanitarium| idea to
the United States; second, in founding the Saranac Laboratory for
the Study of Tuberculosis, based on the work of Robert Koch in
Germany. Little Red, the first building at Trudeau's Adirondack
Cottage Sanitarium, located several miles outside the developing

pusiness district of Saranac Lake, was built in 1884.

By 1890 activity building in the village had begun a period of
rapid growth spurred on by the growth of the Adirondack Cottage
Sanitarium that would last for the next twenty years, imbuing the
community with a boom town economy and spirit. To deal with this
growth, the village of Saranac Lake incorporated in 1892, the
First in the Adirondacks to do so, electing Dr. Trudeau as mayor
and Miller as one of the first two trustees. During the next ten
years, ten business blocks were built, of a large size and
sophisticated style for what was still a remote area. Beginning
with 4-6 Broadway, then still called Depot Street, the business
section,still interspersed with houses, stretched down the hill
to another crossing of the Saranac River and beyond. Nine of
these commercial blocks (the Kendall Building at 82 Main Street,
the McIntyre Block at 4-6 Broadway, the Ayer Block at 10
Broadway, Scheefer's Jewelers at 20-22 Broadway, Leonard's
Department Store at 85 Main Street, the Harding Block at 89 Main
Street, the Loomis or Downing Block at 15-17-19 Broadway, the
Ledger Block at 25 Broadway, and Stark's Hardware at 29 Broadway)

[}
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Ledger Block at 25 Broadway, and Stark's Hardware at 29 Broadway)
are modest vernacular examples of popular nineteenth-century
commercial architectural styles. These early buildings reflect
their remote location through their builders' use of local
materials and simple fenestration; they also reflect the
conservative approach of their builders to the onset of an
unprecedented prosperity. Three of these, Leonard's Department
Store, the Harding Block and the Ledger Block (as well as the
Coulter Block at 71-79 Main Street and the Hogan Block, just out

. of the district) were built in two parts, expanding onto an
adjacent site as business warranted, or funds allowed. The
cautiousness of this approach reflects the unanticipated growth
of Saranac Lake as a health resort.

The Coulter Block at 71-79 Main Street, as the first of the
buildings in the district known to have been architect-designed,
marks a transition. William Lincoln Coulter came to Saranac Lake
for his health, opening his office in 1895, probably the first
architect to establish a practice in the area. He had apparently
studied architecture at Columbia University, but did not
graduate. He spent twelve years in practice at Saranac Lake,
during which time he became regionally recognized for his work on
many of the large, sophisticated "Great Camps" built for the
wealthy in the region.

The first building known to be his work is the imposing
cobblestone and shingle Main Building at the Adirondack Cottage
Sanitarium, built in 1896. In 1899 and 1900 Coulter, perhaps for
office space for his practice, purchased two lots on Main Street
and oversaw the progressive construction of two buildings,
internally linked above the first story, known together as the
Coulter Block and bought and sold as a unit ever since. Acting
as a developer, Coulter gambled on the mercantile future of
Saranac Lake, yet the building's two-part construction drew upon
the conservative attitude of those who preceded him. It is
during this period in his career that Coulter established himself
as one of the premier architects of the Adirondack "Great Camp"
era. At the turn of the century Coulter took on a partner,
another patient, named Max Westhoff. By 1902 the firm had
designed many residences which incorporated camp style
architecture with open verandas and the sleeping, or cure,
porches that had become associated with Trudeau's fresh-air cure.
In 1905, William Distin, Sr., son of an early local photographer,
joined the firm. Coulter died in 1907.

The first years of the new century saw nine more new buildings
added in the Berkeley Square district. In these years, the

[}
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character of the Main Street section changed radically as gquides'
houses were replaced by commercial buildings. Moreover, this
section of the downtown (which extended north across the river
for several blocks as early as 1895) became the showcase for
expensive consumer goods in expensive buildings, designed to
attract and satisfy the wealthy patients flocking to try
Trudeau's ' cure. In August 1906, Reuben and Ida Reynolds sold the
house they had rented to the Trudeau family to the Adirondack
National Bank, which in turn sold the south half of the lot to
_the Hudson River Telephone Company for the Telephone Exchange
Building (68 Main St.) and built an elegant bank for its own use
oh the north half, at 70 Main Street. Also constructed during
this period were: the Walton and Tousley Hardware Store at 34
Main Street, the Donaldson Block at 56 Main, the Haase Block at
60 Main, the Fowler Block, or old Enterprise building, at 76
Main, the Roberts Block, or Finnigan's, at 78 Main, the Jack
Block at 2 Broadway, the Egler Block, or the Fair Store, at 18
Broadway. These buildings, built between 1500 and 1912, show
increasingly elaborate detail reflecting the Colonial and
Classical Revival styles popular in this era and clearly
illustrating the willingness of their builders to make
substantial investment in quality design, construction and
ornamentation. Three of these buildings also represent
outstanding surviving examples of a type of facility popular
among turberculosis patients, apartments with galleries and
balconies overlooking the street on the second and third floors
of business buildings. Like many such facilities constructed in
saranac Lake for use by patients, those in the Berkeley Square
district were privately developed in a community acutely
sensitive both to the needs of its market and to the latest
medical wisdom as expressed in the building trends at Trudeau's
sanatarium. In Saranac Lake both developers and architects were
also often tuberculosis patients; it seems likely that they would
be especially interested in developing specialized facilities in

a rapidly growing and urbanizing downtown district.

In an article titled mEvolution of Sanatorium Construction®
published in the Journal of the outdoor Life in May 1935, the
architects William H. Scopes, A.I.A and Maurice M. Feustmann,
A.I.A. described the changing uses of porches:

The porches of the early cottages (at the
sanitarium) were small and had no protection
from the wind other than the protection
provided by the cottage walls....The most
important change...came with the advent of
outdoor sleeping. In one of the cottages that
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was being built at Trudeau at this time (1902-
- Richardson Cottage), work had gone too far to
make the needed changes so that each patient
could be wheeled directly from a room to the
porch....After this no cottage was built at
- Trudeau or any patient housing provided
without arrangements for direct access to a
porch from the patients' rooms.

The planning at Trudeau Sanatarium had its
influence also on residencial construction in
Saranac Lake. From time to time many cottages
had been rented by patients in Saranac Lake
Village, hardly any of which were provided
with sleeping porches, prior to 1900.
Commencing at that time, however, it was
almost impossible for a house owner to rent
his cottage unless it had one or more sleeping
porches.

Note: The term "porch" is used in the modern
sense of a covered veranda or open room
exposed to the atmosphere. Loggia might be a
more accurate description for multi-storied
buildings.

In Berkeley Square, the attempt to accommodate tenants who might
also be patients is reflected in a variety of sitting-out porches
which were built into the downtown business blocks as a part of
the original intent of their designs and in the wood-frame
sleeping porches which were probably added to some of the
buildings that had been built earlier without such facilities.
Included in a list of downtown buildings that still exhibit some
cure-related features are five buildings with intact verandas,
balconies or galleries: the Haase Block at 60 Main Street, the
Fowler Block at 76 Main Street, the Roberts Block at 78 Main
Street the Harding Block at 89 Main Street, and the Loomis or
Downing Block at 15-17-19 Broadway. Two others retain evidence
of such use, although the buildings have been altered, the
Donaldson Block at 56 Main Street, with its Gibbs surround, now
enclosed, and the McIntyre Block, 4-6 Broadway, with a sleeping
porch on the second story front in the domestic style of
attached porches, the only such example on the front of any
building in the district. The formal, masonry business buildings
have essentially been provided with second and third story
verandas, for sitting out. Those facilities added later,
probably the case with-4-6 Broadway, were likely designed as

]
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sleeping porches, enclosed with glass and, ideally, opening
directly from bedrooms.

The Colonel Revival Fowler Block at 76 Main Street was the first
building in Saranac Lake designed by architect William Henry
Scopes, who came to the village from Utica in 1889 to cure.
While occupying Little Red at the sanatarium, he became
interested in architecture and took a correspondence course in
the subject. He later went to Columbia University for further

study and began practicing in 1903. The Fowler Block was

designed during Scopes's period of study, prior to the opening of
his office in Saranac Lake. He is also known to have designed
many of the cottages at Trudeau's sanitarium during this same
period.

Maurice M. Feustmann became Scopes's partner in a productive and
long-lived firm responsible for most of the civic monuments in
the village. Feustmann was a graduate of the University of
Pennsylvania and studied in Munich for two years. He also studied
at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris and in other parts of
Europe. He came to Saranac Lake at the close of the last century
when his health became undermined, remaining for two years before
going to the southwest to continue the cure. In 1903 Scopes
invited him to return to Saranac Lake and form the firm of Scopes
and Feustmann. The offer was accepted and the firm won its first

- competition in the bidding for the contract to design the

Reception Hospital. The names nScopes and Feustmann" became
inseparable, and it is difficult to distinguish the contributions
of the individual partners. Their names appear on drawings for
private cottages, many institutional buildings at the sanitarium,
public buildings in Saranac Lake, and other sanatoria in Vermont,
Georgia and Liberty, N.Y. Scopes and Feustmann became
internationally known authorities on the design of sanitariumfor
the cure of tuberculosis. Both were members of the American
Institute of Architects, and Scopes was honored in 1956 for "long
and distinguished service" to his community by the Central New
York Chapter of the A.I.A. Feustmann died in 1943 of a heart
illness, but the long list of buildings to his firm's credit
shows no work locally after 1930, when new construction had
nearly ceased entirely. Scopes died at 87 in 1964, his cure
successful; he is buried in Pine Ridge Cemetery. Locally, they
designed the Hotel Saranac, Will Rogers Hospital (National
Register listed), and, in Berkeley Square, the 1907 Haase Block
and the 1926 Harrietstown Town Hall, as well as the 1918 ocak
storefront remodeling at 89 Main Street.
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Finally, the 1920s saw the last two available sites in the
Berkeley Square Historic District built upon. The Tousley
Storage Building at 38-40 Main Street, built as a parking garage
and Dodge sales agency, is in a commercial style marked by Tudor
arches and a glazed terra-cotta facing. The Book Store, designed
by William G. Distin, Sr., is a modest Art Deco style storefront
with bronze trim and black granite base. The building at 84 Main
Street was designed by architect Paul Jacquet on the site of a
building torn down to make room for it. Two other new buildings
replaced two which had burned, Altman's on the site of the
Central Hotel and the new Harrietstown Town Hall on the site of
the old one.

The Harrietstown Town Hall, the only public building in the
historic district, is an expression of Saranac Lake's prosperity
in 1926, the year that the old town hall burned and taxpayers
voted to build the fine new one. The architects were Scopes and
Feustmann. Like Milo Miller sixty years earlier, the architects
interpreted a sophisticated popular style in more modest
materials---red brick and Indiana limestone. The town hall
remains one of the finest examples of Beaux-Arts influenced civic
architecture in the region.

The Berkeley Square Historic District clearly reflects the
development of Saranac Lake into the premier health resort of the
late nineteenth and early twentieth century. This highly intact
grouping of commercial buildings, which represent the nationally
popular architectural styles of the day, is further enhanced by
the adaptation of these styles by the builders to incorporate
design elements brought to the area by Dr. Trudeau as part of
this tuberculosis cure program. The Berkeley Square Historic
district represents an unusual urban commercial streetscape which
still remains isolated in the midst of the Adirondack wilderness.




BERKELEY SQUARE HISTORIC DISTRICT

amnm— District boundary

Contributing building

- Non-contributing building

&\\ Open space within district
R boundary

D Photo key

[ " J

Scale 1" = 100" N




9. Major Bibliographical References

See continuation sheet

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property approx. 6 acres
Quadrangle name Saranac Lake Quadrangte scate _ 1:24,000

UTM References

A 8
28] [51619]215,0] 5090182910 Ll e bbb b g
Zone Easting Northing 2one Easting Northing
el byt b by Laad ol o) W be e b b luu
E[l]lllllJ_I|Lllllxl F|||111111J1111111_JA
S N T N S AT T T T .
Verbal boundary description and justification -
See attached property map
List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries
state NA code county code
state code county code
11. Form Prepared By
name/titie John A. Bonafide B
organization Division for Historic Preservation date December, 1987 .
A Bldg. 1, i - -
street & number gency Bldg. 1, Empire State Plaza telephone 518-474-0479
city or town Albany state NY

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

—_ national ____state X local B

As the designated State Historic Preservation Otficer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 ( Public Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the Nationsl Register certify that it has been svaluated
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the National .

ice

State Historic Preservation Officer signature P

m.Deputy Commissioner for Histo reservation

For NPS use only L/
| heroby certify that this property Is inciuded in the Nationa! Register

Keeper of the National Register

Attest : date
Chiet of Registration

GPO 911-398




‘e gLt vy eqmcc g

[Lg ]

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Berkeley Square Historie District
Saranac Leke, Franklin Cownty

Sectionnumber __9 __ Page _1 Nev York

The Adirondack Enterprise, Supplement, Vol.'I, No. 1, Thursday, February.
21, 1895. Saranac Lake, W.Y.

Clapesattle, Helen. Dr. Webb of Colorado Springs. Boulder, Colorado:
Colorado Associated University Press, 4. '

Donaldson, Alfred L. A History of the Adirondacks. 2 vols. n.p.:
The.Century Company, 1921.

Gallos, Philip L. Cure Cottages of Saranac Lake. Saranac Lake, N.Y.:
Historic Saranac Lake, 1985,

Gallos, Philip L. Unoublished manuscripts: "Harrietstown Town Hall,"
"Rice's Purniture Building," "The Tousley Building," "The Second
Empire Group: Miller's Store," "Gray's," "The Second Empire Group:
Little Joe's," "The Second Empire Group: Post Office Pharmacy, "
"The Réynolds Lots: The Donaldson Block," "The Laase Block," "The
Exchange," "Adirondack National Bank," "Anna Miller Homestead: The
Fowler Block and Roberts Block," "The Wilson Acquisitions: The
Kencdall Building, the Mulflur Building, and the Jack Block," "The
McIntyre Block," "The Ayer Block,"” "Altman's," "The Egler Block,"
"The Scheefer Building," "The Coulter Block," "Leonard's," "The
Harding Block," "The Loomis Block," "Ledger Block," and "Starks
iiardware Building." All Saranac Lake, N.Y., 1983.

Insurance Maps of Saranac Lake, New York. 7 editions. "New York: Sanborn-
Perris Map Co.: 1395 to 1931 inclusive.

Kaiser, Harvey H..Great Camps of the Adirondacks. Boston: David R. Godine,
1982,

McGowan, Robert Harold. Architecture from the Adirondack Foothills: Folk
- and Designed Architecture of Franklin County, New York. Malone, .
N.Y.: Franklin County Historical and Museum Society, 1977.

Minehan, Betsy.and Mario De Vit. Unpublished inventory forms for Trudeau
Sanatorium.Historic District. Saranac Lake, N.Y., 1983.

Scopes, William H., A.I.A. and Maurice M. Feustmann A.I.A. "Evolution of
Sanatorium Construction," The Journal of the Outdoor Life, May, 1935.

Trudeau, Edward Livingston, M.D. An Autobiography. New York: \Lea and
Febiger, 1915. Reprinted I934.

) i
-areham, Arthur. Telephone interview, 12/14/87"




SARANAC L

AKE

Berkeley Square Historic District
Saranac Lake, Franklin County, New York
UIM Reference Point, 1:24000

Saranac Lake Quadrangle, zone 18

E: 569250

N:5908290

\

'.'_(_«osm--u.
R4
/J &




